# Benefits and Risks of Pharmacological Treatments for Essential Tremor

Kelly E. Lyons, <sup>1</sup> Rajesh Pahwa, <sup>1</sup> Cynthia L. Comella, <sup>2</sup> Mahmood S. Eisa, <sup>3</sup> Rodger J. Elble, <sup>4</sup> Stanley Fahn, <sup>5</sup> Joseph Jankovic, <sup>6</sup> Jorge L. Juncos, <sup>7</sup> William C. Koller, <sup>8</sup> William G. Ondo, <sup>6</sup> Kapil D. Sethi, <sup>9</sup> Matthew B. Stern, <sup>3</sup> Caroline M. Tanner, <sup>10</sup> Ron Tintner <sup>6</sup> and Ray L. Watts <sup>7</sup>

- 1 University of Kansas Medical Center, Kansas City, Kansas, USA
- 2 Rush Presbyterian St. Luke's Medical Center, Chicago, Illinois, USA
- 3 Pennsylvania Hospital, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, USA
- 4 Southern Illinois University School of Medicine, Springfield, Illinois, USA
- 5 Columbia University, New York, New York, USA
- 6 Baylor College of Medicine, Houston, Texas, USA
- 7 Emory University, Atlanta, Georgia, USA
- 8 Mt. Sinai Medical Center, New York, New York, USA
- 9 Medical College of Georgia, Augusta, Georgia, USA
- 10 The Parkinson Institute, Sunnyvale, California, USA

#### **Contents**

Ab	ostract	462
1.	First-Line Pharmacological Treatments	464
	1.1 β-Adrenoceptor Antagonists	464
	1.2 Primidone	465
2.	Second-Line Pharmacological Treatments	466
	2.1 Benzodiazepines	466
	2.2 Gabapentin	467
	2.3 Topiramate	468
	2.4 Botulinum Toxin	468
	2.4.1 Hand Tremor	469
	2.4.2 Head Tremor	469
	2.4.3 Voice Tremor	470
3.	Treatments with Undetermined Efficacy	
	3.1 Carbonic Anhydrase Inhibitors	
	3.2 Phenobarbital	471
	3.3 Calcium Channel Antagonists	472
	3.4 Isoniazid	472
	3.5 Clonidine	472
	3.6 Clozapine	472
	3.7 Mirtazapine	473
4.	Surgical Treatment	473
	4.1 Thalamotomy	473

	4.2 Deep Brain Stimulation of the Thalamus	474
	4.3 Thalamotomy versus Thalamic Stimulation	475
	4.4 Gamma Knife Radiosurgical Thalamotomy	476
5.	Non-Pharmacological and Non-Surgical Treatments	477
6.	Conclusions	477

#### Abstract

Essential tremor can cause significant functional disability in some patients. The arms are the most common body part affected and cause the most functional disability. The treatment of essential tremor includes medications, surgical options and other forms of therapy. Presently there is no cure for essential tremor nor are there any medications that can slow the progression of tremor.

Treatment for essential tremor is recommended if the tremor causes functional disability. If the tremor is disabling only during periods of stress and anxiety, propranolol and benzodiazepines can be used during those periods when the tremor causes functional disability. The currently available medications can improve tremor in approximately 50% of the patients. If the tremor is disabling, treatment should be initiated with either primidone or propranolol. If either primidone or propranolol do not provide adequate control of the tremor, then the medications can be used in combination. If patients experience adverse effects with propranolol, occasionally other β-adrenoceptor antagonists (such as atenolol or metoprolol) can be used. If primidone and propranolol do not provide adequate control of tremor, occasionally the use of benzodiazepines (such as clonazepam) can provide benefit. Other medications that may be helpful include gabapentin or topiramate. If a patient has disabling head or voice tremor, botulinum toxin injections into the muscles may provide relief from the tremor. Botulinum toxin in the hand muscles for hand tremor can result in bothersome hand weakness and is not widely used. There are other medications that have been tried in essential tremor and have questionable efficacy. These drugs include carbonic anhydrase inhibitors (e.g. methazolamide), phenobarbital, calcium channel antagonists (e.g. nimodipine), isoniazid, clonidine, clozapine and mirtazapine.

If the patient still has disabling tremor after medication trials, surgical options are usually considered. Surgical options include thalamotomy and deep brain stimulation of the thalamus. These surgical options provide adequate tremor control in approximately 90% of the patients. Surgical morbidity and mortality for these procedures is low. Deep brain stimulation and thalamotomy have been shown to have comparable efficacy but fewer complications have been reported with deep brain stimulation. In patients undergoing bilateral procedures deep brain stimulation of the thalamus is the procedure of choice to avoid adverse effects seen with bilateral ablative procedures. The use of medication and/or surgery can provide adequate tremor control in the majority of the patients.

Essential tremor is one of the most common movement disorders and in some patients can cause significant disability. Clinically, essential tremor is characterised by a 4–12Hz postural and kinetic tremor.<sup>[1]</sup> The arms are the most common region affected by tremor and also cause the most functional disability. Other body parts like the head, face, voice, trunk and lower limbs can also be affected.<sup>[1]</sup> The reported prevalence of essential tremor varies greatly with estimates from 0.8 to 2200 per 10 000 population, with the majority of studies estimating the prevalence between 40 and 400 per 10 000 population.<sup>[2]</sup>

Tremor can begin at any age, but it typically begins in middle age. Essential tremor increases in prevalence with increasing age and it is estimated that 1 to 5 of every 100 persons aged ≥60 years are affected. Tremor usually progresses over time with an increase in severity and a wider distribution of tremor throughout the body. Essential tremor is diagnosed clinically as there are currently no diagnostic tests available. The majority of clinicians recognise essential tremor as a mono-symptomatic tremor disorder, with no other neurological signs or symptoms. The differential diagnoses of essential hyperthyroidism and hypertremor include adrenergic conditions, dystonia, Parkinson's disease, cerebellar lesions, tremor due to peripheral neuropathy, psychogenic tremor and toxin or drug-induced tremor.[3-5]

Certain drugs can cause tremor that can be mistaken for essential tremor. These drugs include  $\beta$ -adrenoceptor agonists, valproic acid, thyroxine, tricyclic antidepressants, selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors, procainamide, methylxanthines, antipsychotics, and lithium. If a patient is experiencing tremor and taking any of these medications, the medications need to be discontinued or the doses should be reduced, if possible.

There are several different medications and modalities for the treatment of essential tremor, which will be summarised in this review. It should be noted that the biochemical basis of essential tremor is unknown. There is some evidence to suggest that the GABAergic system may be involved. However, drugs known to affect the GABAergic system have not consistently shown benefit in essential tremor. The drugs currently used in the treatment of essential tremor have been discovered by serendipity rather than on a biochemical basis.

The treatment for essential tremor can include pharmacological treatment, surgical treatment and the use of other modalities for treatment. Currently, there is no cure for essential tremor and there are no medications that are known to slow the progression of essential tremor. Unless there is functional disability with tremor, a patient does not necessarily need to take medications for the treatment of tremor. Essential tremor can worsen during periods of stress and anxiety. If a patient's tremor causes functional disability only during certain social circumstances like attending a party or a special event, the occasional use of β-adrenoceptor antagonists (β-blockers) and benzodiazepines may be considered. With the currently available medications, approximately 50% of patients can tolerate these medications and may have benefit. Patients who require medications on a daily basis should be started with β-blockers (such as propranolol) or primidone. If the tremor is inadequately controlled with either of these medications alone, a combination of these two drugs may be tried. If the patient continues to have bothersome tremor, medications like benzodiazepines, gabapentin, topiramate or botulinum toxin could be used. If a patient has disabling tremor that is not well controlled with medications, the use of surgical therapy especially deep brain stimulation of the thalamus should be considered. Over 80% of patients with disabling hand tremor can have significant relief from tremor with surgery. Each of these treatment options will now be discussed in detail.

### 1. First-Line Pharmacological Treatments

#### 1.1 β-Adrenoceptor Antagonists

The β-blockers have been used for the treatment of tremor for over three decades. [6-8] The majority of the studies have reported the efficacy of propranolol in reducing postural hand tremor with subjective and objective scales. [9-13] Tolosa and Loewenson [10] conducted a double-blind trial of propranolol 120 mg/ day in 11 patients. All patients improved and none of the patients experienced adverse effects. Murray, [11] in a double-blind crossover study with 12 patients treated with propranolol and placebo, reported that eight patients improved with propranolol and three with placebo; however, the degree of improvement with propranolol was greater than that with placebo. In the same paper he also reported that an additional 21 patients had a fair to excellent response when treated with propranolol after 2-4 years. Teräväinen et al.[13] conducted a double-blind crossover study assessing the effect of propranolol 120 mg/day in 21 essential tremor patients. Electrical recording of tremor amplitude and frequency showed that propranolol had no effect on the tremor frequency but reduced the amplitude in 15 patients.

Approximately 50% of essential tremor patients will have symptomatic benefit with propranolol, although some patients will have no response. Tremor can be reduced by as much as 50% to 60% in some patients. Some studies have reported a lack of benefit with propranolol,  $^{[14]}$  however, inadequate doses, small sample size, or lack of objective measurements in these studies may be responsible for the lack of benefit. It is not known what factors distinguish those patients who respond to propranolol from those patients who do not respond.  $^{[12,13,15,16]}$  Calzetti et al.  $^{[16]}$  reported no significant relationship between changes in tremor amplitude or changes in disease duration with cardiac  $\beta$ -blockade or serum propranolol levels in patients

who responded compared with patients who did not respond to propranolol.

In a dose response study of propranolol, Koller<sup>[17]</sup> studied the effect of propranolol using doses of 80–800 mg/day in 15 essential tremor patients. The dose was escalated weekly by 80mg. Although mean serum propranolol levels increased with increasing dosage, they did not correlate with tremor suppression. Five patients did not tolerate doses higher than 640 mg/day. Maximum tremor suppression occurred within a dose range between 160 and 320 mg/day. Doses above 320 mg/day produced no additional benefit.

A sustained release preparation of propranolol (once daily) has been reported to provide similar or, in some cases, greater tremor reduction than divided doses.[18,19] In a crossover study, Koller[18] compared long-acting propranolol (propranolol-LA) to propranolol in divided doses in 18 essential tremor patients. Three patients (16.7%) were unresponsive to both preparations and the remaining 83.3% of patients had some response to both preparations. Propranolol-LA was preferred by 87% of patients for ease of administration and by 67% for tremor control. Propranolol-LA provided similar or greater reductions in tremor amplitude (53 and 47% of patients, respectively) than divided dosing. Similarly, in a controlled study, Cleeves and Findley<sup>[19]</sup> reported that a propranolol-LA (at doses of 160, 240 and 320mg), was as effective as conventional propranolol (80mg three times daily) in reducing tremor amplitude.

Contraindications for the use of propranolol include moderate to severe bronchial asthma, significant sinus bradycardia, high grade or complete atrioventricular block, cardiogenic block and concurrent use of calcium channel antagonists. The majority of the adverse events with propranolol are mild, transient and rarely require discontinuation of therapy. The most common adverse effects are nausea, vomiting, diarrhea, bradycardia, hypotension,

drowsiness, paresthesias, light-headedness, weakness, fatigue and lethargy. Infrequent adverse effects include hallucinations, vivid dreams, insomnia, confusion, short-term memory loss, depression and abdominal pain. In divided-dose administration of propranolol, fatigue, lethargy and vivid dreams appear to be dose related. Agranulocytosis, alopecia, rashes, dry eyes, and impotence are rarely reported. [20]

The mechanism of action of propranolol in essential tremor is unknown. Young<sup>[21]</sup> proposed a central site of action because of the lack of effect of intravenous or intra-arterial propranolol and a delay in the effect of oral therapy. However, several controlled studies have shown that propranolol causes an immediate and sustained reduction in tremor. [15,22] Jefferson and colleagues<sup>[23]</sup> have proposed a peripheral site of action. Specific  $\beta_2$  antagonists (ICI 118551 and LI 32-468), which act predominantly peripherally, are effective in decreasing tremor, providing support for a peripheral  $\beta_2$  antagonistic mechanism of action. [23,24]

Other orally active  $\beta$ -blockers are available including metoprolol, nadolol, atenolol, timolol, and pindolol. The effectiveness of metoprolol, at divided doses of 100-200 mg/day, has been demonstrated in multiple case reports and a controlled study. [25-31] Calzetti et al.[30] in a single oral dose study of propranolol (120mg), metoprolol (150mg) and placebo reported that both agents were significantly more effective than placebo in reducing the magnitude of tremor. In a controlled study, nadolol, when administered once daily at doses of 120 and 240 mg/ day, was found to significantly decrease tremor in essential tremor patients who also responded to propranolol.[32] Timolol was also reported to decrease tremor.[33] Atenolol and pindolol have been reported to have minimal or no effect on tremor.[23,34] Pindolol may actually cause or increase tremors due to its partial agonist activity.[35] Kuroda and coworkers<sup>[36]</sup> reported that arotinolol, a peripherally acting  $\beta$ -blocker, significantly reduced essential tremor in 15 patients at doses of 30 mg/day.

Divided-dosing propranolol and propranolol-LA are the most commonly prescribed β-blockers for the treatment of essential tremor. Propranolol, in divided doses, should be started from 10 mg/day up to 60 mg/day. The majority of patients will benefit from doses ≤120 mg/day. If the response is inadequate with 120 mg/day, the dose can be increased to 240–320 mg/day. An older patient should be started at 10 mg/day and the dose should be slowly increased to 80–100 mg/day. Propranolol-LA should be started at 60 mg/day and can be slowly increased to 120 mg/day or higher as needed and tolerated.

#### 1.2 Primidone

O'Brien and coworkers<sup>[37]</sup> were the first to report that primidone was an effective treatment for essential tremor. They gave primidone to a patient for epilepsy and noticed an unexpected reduction in tremor. Subsequently, they gave 20 additional essential tremor patients primidone. Of these 20 patients, six could not tolerate the drug because of vertigo and nausea but 12 obtained a good response, which in some cases was dramatic. Several studies have demonstrated the efficacy of primidone in essential tremor.<sup>[38-40]</sup>

The mechanism of action of primidone for essential tremor is not known. Primidone is converted into phenylethylmalonamide and phenobarbital. Phenylethylmalonamide has a half-life of approximately 30 hours, while phenobarbital has a half-life of approximately 10 days. High doses of phenylethylmalonamide had no effect on tremor. [41] It is currently thought that primidone itself or a yet unrecognised metabolite appears to be responsible for the observed anti-tremor effect. Findley and Calzetti suggested that both primidone and phenobarbital were responsible for the anti-tremor effects. However, Koller and Royse, [40] found that primidone resulted in a reduction in tremor when

there was no detectable serum phenobarbital. Furthermore, tremor control was lost when primidone was replaced by phenobarbital.<sup>[40]</sup>

Koller and Royse<sup>[40]</sup> (using objective recording techniques) found that primidone (50–1000 mg/day) significantly reduced the amplitude of hand tremor in both untreated and propranolol-treated patients. Low doses (i.e. 250 mg/day) were found to be as effective as high doses. A single oral dose of 250 mg/day of primidone decreased tremor by 60% one to seven hours after ingestion. Primidone decreased tremor more than propranolol. There were no correlations between therapeutic response and serum levels. Acute reactions to the initial dose, resulting in ataxia and confusion, led to drug discontinuation in three (9.4%) patients. Dose increases were not possible in nine (28.1%) patients due to excessive sedation and vertigo.

Findley et al.<sup>[39]</sup> in a double-blind trial, reported that primidone was significantly superior to placebo in reducing the magnitude of hand tremor. They reported an acute toxic reaction consisting of severe nausea, vomiting, ataxia and giddiness with an initial dose of primidone 62.5mg in five (22.7%) of 22 patients. These patients were withdrawn from the study and the effects lasted for a period of 12–72 hours. Less severe adverse effects of sedation, tiredness and depression occurred in 11 (50%) patients.

In a double-blind, randomised, crossover study, Gorman and coworkers<sup>[43]</sup> examined the effects of primidone, propranolol, and placebo in 14 essential tremor patients. Propranolol and primidone each significantly reduced tremor compared with placebo; however, there was no significant difference in tremor reduction between the two drugs. Studies have indicated that tolerance to primidone may develop,<sup>[44,45]</sup> however, Sasso et al.<sup>[46]</sup> reported that, in 11 patients treated with primidone (375–750 mg/day) for 12 months, the magnitude of tremor was still significantly reduced compared with the initial

placebo period. Three patients discontinued the drug due to sedation.

Primidone should be started at 12.5mg (one quarter of a 50mg tablet) or 25mg (half of a 50mg tablet) at bedtime. After 1 week, this dose can be increased to 50mg at bedtime. The dose can be increased by 50mg per week up to a dose of 250 mg/day, or until adequate tremor control is achieved. Doses of up to 750 mg/day can be beneficial in some patients. Primidone can be given as a single dose at bedtime or in divided doses throughout the day. The most frequent adverse effects associated with primidone are ataxia and vertigo. These tend to occur at initial treatment and resolve with continued therapy or a reduction in dosage. Other adverse effects seen occasionally are nausea, vomiting, fatigue, emotional disturbances, impotence, diplopia, polyuria and skin rash.[20]

# 2. Second-Line Pharmacological Treatments

#### 2.1 Benzodiazepines

GABA-agonist anxiolytic drugs such as clonazepam, diazepam, lorazepam, and alprazolam are frequently used in the treatment of essential tremor. These drugs are especially useful in patients with concomitant anxiety. In a double-blind crossover study in 12 essential tremor patients, five showed improvements with diazepam while four showed improvements with placebo.<sup>[11]</sup> The degree of improvement was less than that achieved with propranolol.

The effect of alprazolam on essential tremor was examined in a double-blind, placebo-controlled parallel study involving 24 patients. [47] Although alprazolam (0.75 mg/day to 2.75 mg/day) was shown to significantly reduce tremor as well as symptoms of anxiety, transient mild fatigue or sedation was seen in 50% of the patients. In another study, the effectiveness of alprazolam and acetazolamide as

symptomatic treatments for essential tremor were examined in a double-blind, crossover, placebo-controlled trial involving 22 patients with essential tremor. [48] Patients received, in random order, alprazolam, acetazolamide, primidone and placebo for 4 weeks, each separated by a 2-week washout period. The study demonstrated that alprazolam was superior to placebo and equipotent to primidone, whereas there was no statistically significant difference between acetazolamide and placebo. The mean effective daily dose of alprazolam was 0.75mg and the only reported adverse effect was mild sedation.

Clonazepam was shown to be ineffective in controlling essential tremor in a double-blind study. [49] However, in patients with kinetic predominant tremor, clonazepam (at a mean dose of 2.2 mg/day) improved kinetic tremor. [50] Clonazepam is also useful in patients with orthostatic tremor. In the original study of orthostatic tremor, Heilman [51] reported three patients who improved with clonazepam. In another study, 10 out of 18 patients with orthostatic tremor showed improvements with clonazepam at a dose of 1–6 mg/day. [52]

The exact mechanism of anti-tremor action of benzodiazepines is unknown. Benzodiazepines potentiate the neurotransmitter GABA by acting as agonists at GABAA receptors and it is possible that this may be responsible for the anti-tremor effect. Benzodiazepines, if used for prolonged periods in large dosages, pose a risk of habituation and addiction.<sup>[20]</sup> In addition, there is a risk of withdrawal symptoms if these drugs are stopped suddenly. In spite of these limitations, these drugs may be useful in patients with essential tremor who do not respond to other medications or have concomitant anxiety. Common adverse effects include somnolence (37%), dizziness (8%), depression (7%), fatigue (7%), loss of coordination (6%) and memory loss and confusion (4%).[20]

#### 2.2 Gabapentin

Several open-label trials have supported the utility of gabapentin for essential tremor, [53-55] therefore, Gironell et al. [56] compared gabapentin (1200 mg/day), propranolol (120 mg/day) and placebo in a 3-way randomised trial involving 16 patients with essential tremor. Each arm was 15 days, separated by a 1-week washout period. Patients entering this trial were weaned off other tremor medications for 2 weeks prior to the study. Gabapentin was superior to placebo and equal to propranolol, as assessed by observational assessments, motor tasks, global impressions, and electrophysiological measures. Adverse events were mild during both treatment arms and all patients completed the study.

Ondo et al. [57] conducted a double-blind, placebocontrolled, crossover trial assessing gabapentin (1800 and 3600 mg/day) as adjunctive therapy to current anti-tremor medications in 25 essential tremor patients. Overall efficacy results were mixed, but largely supported the efficacy of gabapentin. Subjective global scores, activity of daily living scores, pouring tests, and objective tremor rating scores statistically improved, whereas observer global scores, spiral drawings, and accelerometry did not. Higher doses (3600 mg/day) were not superior to lower doses (1800 mg/day). No demographic or phenotypic factors predicted a more robust response. The drug was very well tolerated. Adverse effects included lethargy and drowsiness (20%), fatigue (16%), decreased libido (12%), dizziness (8%), nervousness (8%) and shortness of breath (4%).

In contrast to these mostly positive findings, Pahwa et al.<sup>[58]</sup> did not find any statistical differences between gabapentin 1800 mg/day adjunctive therapy and placebo in terms of objective ratings, functional ability, or activities of daily living measures of tremor. Twenty patients with essential tremor underwent a 2-week, crossover trial, which included a 1-week washout period between each

treatment arm. The drug was generally well tolerated; however, adverse events included dizziness (20%), nausea (10%) and sedation (5%).

There are several possible explanations for the contradictory results seen in the various gabapentin studies. In the study by Gironell et al., [56] patients were not taking additional anti-tremor medications, whereas in the studies by Ondo et al. [57] and Pahwa et al. [58] studies, gabapentin was used as adjunctive therapy. In addition, patients included in the study by Pahwa et al. [58] had greater disability as a result of tremor at baseline than those patients in the study by Gironell et al., [56] which may have made the patients more difficult to treat.

The mechanism of action of gabapentin with regards to tremor suppression is unclear. Gabapentin is a structural analogue of GABA. Although it has no affinity for the GABA receptor, it demonstrates multiple actions in the nervous system. [59-63] There is a lack of well-designed, multicentre trials investigating the use of gabapentin in the treatment of essential tremor. However, most initial studies indicate that there may be some benefit for tremor, that it is relatively well tolerated and that it has a good safety profile that includes primarily sedation or drowsiness, fatigue, dizziness, and nausea. Therefore, gabapentin may have a role in the treatment of essential tremor.

#### 2.3 Topiramate

After reporting the efficacy of topiramate as a treatment for essential tremor in an open-label report, [64] Conner conducted a double-blind, placebocontrolled, crossover trial assessing the use of this agent in the treatment of 24 patients with essential tremor. [65] After an initial evaluation including objective measures of tremor, activities of daily living, and functional drawing assessments, patients gradually increased the dose of the drug, or placebo, over 8 weeks, then completed a further 2 weeks' treatment at a steady dose before their subsequent evalu-

ation. A 2-week washout period separated each of the study arms. At a mean final dose of 333 mg/day, patients on topiramate demonstrated significant improvement in all assessment sub-scales (objective tremor scores, functional ability, and activities of daily living). Nine patients withdrew from the study. One patient (4.2%) withdrew because of dizziness, one (4.2%) because of disorientation and one (4.2%) with memory problems and ataxia. Of the remaining patients, three withdrew as a result of intercurrent illness, one was lost to follow-up, one was discontinued by another neurologist and one was removed for noncompliance. Tolerable adverse events with topiramate included weight loss, paraesthesia, confusion, and word-finding difficulty.

The mechanism of action of the anti-tremor effects of topiramate is also unknown. Topiramate is a sulfamate substituted monosaccharide, which is structurally distinct from any other anti-epileptic medication. [66] It has multiple mechanisms of action including inhibiting voltage-gated sodium channels, [67] augmenting of the inhibitory chloride ion influx mediated by GABA, [68] inhibiting carbonic anhydrase in a manner similar to that of acetazolamide, [66] and antagonising the α-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid (AMPA)/ kainate subtype of the glutamate receptor. It has no effect on the NMDA receptor subtype. [66]

#### 2.4 Botulinum Toxin

Botulinum toxins are potent neurotoxins produced by *Clostridium botulinum*. Botulinum toxins bind to specific acceptors on nerve terminals and effectively denervate muscle by enzymatic cleavage of one of the proteins involved in vesicle fusion (SNARE proteins).<sup>[69,70]</sup> There are seven serotypes of botulinum toxin (A, B, C, D, E, F, and G), each with a unique presynaptic acceptor, and each cleaving one of the fusion proteins in a specific location.<sup>[70]</sup> In the US, the FDA has approved botulinum toxin A for treatment of blepharospasm, strabismus,

disorders of the VIIth cranial nerve and cervical dystonia. Botulinum toxin B has also been approved in the US for the treatment of cervical dystonia. Despite the limited areas of approval, botulinum toxin has been shown to have clinical application in a variety of disorders, [71] including tremor. The usefulness of botulinum toxin A has been assessed for tremor of the hand, head, and voice. [72] There is no information available for botulinum toxin B for tremor.

#### 2.4.1 Hand Tremor

Several studies have examined the usefulness of botulinum toxin A for the treatment of essential tremor of the hand. Jankovic et al.<sup>[73]</sup> randomised 25 essential tremor patients to receive either 50U of botulinum toxin A or placebo injections into the wrist flexors and extensors of the dominant limb. If patients failed to respond to the initial injection, they were eligible to receive another injection of 100U 4 weeks later. Tremor was assessed using tremor severity rating scales, accelerometry, and assessments of improvement and disability. There were no significant improvements in functional rating scales but postural accelerometry measurements showed reduction in amplitude in 9 out of 12 botulinum toxin A-treated subjects and in one out of nine placebo-treated subjects. All patients treated with botulinum toxin A reported some degree of finger weakness.

In a multicentre study, Brin et al.<sup>[74]</sup> assessed the safety and efficacy of botulinum toxin type A injection in 133 essential tremor patients. Patients were randomised to low-dose (50U) or high-dose (100U) botulinum toxin A or placebo treatment. At 16 weeks, both doses of botulinum toxin significantly reduced postural tremor. Functional disability scales did not show consistent improvement. All patients who received botulinum toxin type A experienced finger weakness as measured by a reduction in grip strength. However, on subjective patient reports, hand weakness was reported by 30% of patients in

the low-dose group and almost 70% of patients in the high-dose group. Other adverse effects were uncommon and included pain at injection site (placebo 4.4%, low-dose 4.7%, high-dose 2.2%), rash (placebo 2.2%), stiffness (low-dose 2.3%), cramping (low-dose 2.3%), haematoma (low-dose 2.3%), and paresthesia (high-dose 6.7%).

The studies by Jankovic et al.<sup>[73]</sup> and Brin et al.<sup>[74]</sup> used fixed dosages of botulinum toxin A and required injection into four specified forearm muscles, the flexor carpi radialis and ulnaris and extensor carpi radialis and ulnaris, regardless of specific tremor movement and allowed injections without electromyography guidance. In contrast, three openlabel studies, which allowed injections into variable muscles, depending on the tremor manifestations, showed significant improvements in patients' functional ability and mild-to-moderate improvement in patients' tremor amplitude. [75-77] In these studies, finger weakness was much less common and less severe due to the exclusion of the extensor carpi muscle and the adjustment of the dosage of botulinum toxin A. Botulinum toxin has limited efficacy for essential hand tremor and commonly causes hand and/or finger weakness.

#### 2.4.2 Head Tremor

Head tremor can be observed predominantly in the horizontal (No-No) or vertical plane (Yes-Yes). An open-label study that included both patients with essential tremor of the head (n = 14) and a combination cervical dystonia and tremor (n = 29), reported improvements in subjective measures and tremor amplitude measured using accelerometry. Adverse events were mild and transient and included dysphagia, neck weakness and pain at the injection site in 40% of the patients in each group. Dysphagia occurred in five (35.7%) essential tremor patients and in two (6.9%) cervical dystonia and tremor patients. Post-injection pain occurred in four (28.6%) of the essential tremor patients and in two (6.9%) of the cervical dystonia and tremor patients.

In a crossover study in ten patients with no-no head tremor without dystonia, Pahwa et al.<sup>[79]</sup> found that, overall, bilateral injections of botulinum toxin were no more effective than placebo. However, three patients did show marked responses with botulinum toxin type A. Adverse effects were frequent with botulinum toxin and included neck weakness (70%), swallowing difficulty (30%), headache (20%), dizziness (10%), neck soreness (10%) and dry skin (10%), all of which resolved without treatment.

#### 2.4.3 Voice Tremor

The efficacy of botulinum toxin in the treatment of patients with voice tremor has not been completely established. Open-label studies suggest that botulinum toxin A may be of benefit in voice tremor. [80] In a study by Hertegard et al., [81] 15 patients with essential tremor of the voice were treated with botulinum toxin A injections to the thyroarytenoid muscles, and in some cases, to the cricothyroid or thyrohyoid muscles. Subjective improvements in voice tremor were reported by 67% of patients, while objective improvements in voice tremor were observed in 50% of patients. The most frequent adverse effect was a temporary breathy quality to the voice, which lasted 1–2 weeks in 12 (80%) patients and up to 4 weeks in three (20%) patients. Three patients (20%) also reported slight dysphagia after injection. One patient showed an improvement in essential voice tremor following injection that lasted for greater than 10 weeks.[82] Patients with vocal tremor may have satisfactory improvement if injections are administered unilaterally.<sup>[83]</sup> The efficacy of botulinum toxin for treatment of tremor in unusual sites, such as the palate and chin, is anecdotal.[84,85]

The treatment of tremor using botulinum toxin has had variable success. The reduction in tremor amplitude following injection may be offset by weakness when both agonist and antagonist muscles are injected. However, in selected patients with functionally disabling tremor who have not responded to oral pharmacological treatments, a careful trial of botulinum toxin administered into the appropriate muscles may be warranted.<sup>[86]</sup>

# 3. Treatments with Undetermined Efficacy

#### 3.1 Carbonic Anhydrase Inhibitors

There have been several open-label<sup>[87-89]</sup>studies that have examined the efficacy of carbonic anhydrase inhibitors in essential tremor. Muenter and coworkers<sup>[87]</sup> treated 28 essential tremor patients with methazolamide (mean dose 200 mg/day) and reported marked improvements in tremor in 12 patients, moderate improvements in four patients, mild improvements in four patients, and no benefits in eight patients. The greatest improvement occurred in head and voice tremor.

The most common adverse effect observed with carbonic anhydrase inhibitors was various degrees of somnolence occurring in 14 (50%) patients. [87] The combination of nausea, epigastric distress and anorexia occurred in eight (28.6%) patients, paraesthesias and numbness occurred in five (17.9%) patients, depression was reported in two (7.1%) patients and imbalance was reported in two (7.1%) patients. Emotional lability, impotence, diarrhoea, constipation, nasal congestion, heart palpitations, dyspnoea, tinnitus, rash, insomnia and nervousness each occurred in one patient.

Busenbark and colleagues<sup>[88]</sup> assessed the use of acetazolamide in 24 essential tremor patients and found significant reductions in tremor severity, but no significant changes in patient functional measures.

Placebo-controlled studies have failed to find any benefits with carbonic anhydrase inhibitors in the treatment of essential tremor. In a double-blind, study in 25 essential tremor patients, no significant differences were observed between methazolamide and placebo in terms of patient self-reporting of functional disability, clinical ratings of motor tasks, tremor severity, and accelerometric measurements. [89] Adverse effects were common and generally mild, including paraesthesias (56%), drowsiness (48%), headache (32%), anorexia (28%), nausea (28%), depression (24%), abdominal cramping (20%), confusion (16%), dyspnoea (8%), irritability (8%), elevated creatine (4%), altered taste (4%) and diarrhoea (4%). Ten patients discontinued methazolamide because of intolerable adverse effects, including paraesthesias (2 patients), drowsiness (4), headache (1), elevated creatine (1), altered taste (1) and diarrhoea (1).

In a double-blind, randomised, crossover, place-bo-controlled study, conducted by Gunal et al., [48] 22 patients with essential tremor received, in random order, alprazolam, acetazolamide, primidone and placebo. There were no significant differences between acetazolamide and placebo. The adverse effects of acetazolamide were mild, with 10% (3) of the patients reporting tolerable paresthesias. No other adverse effects were reported.

Double-blind, placebo-controlled studies have failed to demonstrate that either of the carbonic anhydrase inhibitors, acetazolamide or methazolamide, are superior to placebo in the treatment of essential tremor. Adverse effects with these drugs are problematic in many patients. While there are anecdotal reports of benefit in individual patients, the use of these agents should be limited.

#### 3.2 Phenobarbital

Although phenobarbital has been used for the treatment of essential tremor for many years, it has minimal clinical benefits. In a double-blind controlled study, 12 essential tremor patients received phenobarbital, propranolol, or placebo administered orally for 1 month.<sup>[90]</sup> Propranolol appeared to be significantly more effective than placebo. Signif-

icant improvements in patients' subjective evaluations and tremor amplitude measurements were observed with both propranolol and phenobarbital compared with placebo. Adverse effects were mild for both propranolol and phenobarbital. Five of the 12 patients experienced adverse effects while taking propranolol including dizziness (3), heartburn (1) and insomnia (1). Similarly, five of the 12 patients experienced adverse effects while taking phenobarbital including drowsiness (2), hypotonia (1), constipation (1) and dizziness (1).

Findley and Cleeves<sup>[91]</sup> reported that, in 12 patients with essential tremor, phenobarbital (120 mg/day) was better than placebo on accelerometric measurement and clinical assessment. However, these benefits of phenobarbital were not reflected in patients' self-assessments of tremor. Adverse effects seen with phenobarbital were drowsiness resolving after one week (16.7%), mild fatigue (41.7%) and intolerable sedation (8.3%).

Koller and Royse, [40] using objective measures, found no effect of phenobarbital (90 mg/day) in essential tremor patients. In a double-blind comparison of primidone and phenobarbital, Sasso and colleagues<sup>[92]</sup> found primidone superior to both placebo and phenobarbital in reducing tremor in 13 patients. Two patients dropped out of the study due to asthenia from phenobarbital in one case and primidone in the other. Of the 13 patients who completed, adverse effects were reported by ten while on primidone, 11 while on phenobarbital and five during placebo. The most common adverse events were drowsiness and fatigability, which occurred equally in the primidone and phenobarbital arms, ataxia, which occurred most with phenobarbital and nausea and vertigo, which occurred primarily with primidone. From the results of these studies, it appears that phenobarbital has a minimal if any role in the treatment of essential tremor.

#### 3.3 Calcium Channel Antagonists

Calcium channel antagonists have been shown to have a limited and variable effect in essential tremor. In a study in eight essential tremor patients, nifedipine worsened tremor and verapamil had no effect on tremor.[93] In a placebo controlled trial of 11 essential tremor patients, nicardipine decreased tremor significantly after the initial dose, but the effect was not sustained at 1 month.[94] In a crossover study with nicardipine (1 mg/kg/day) and propranolol (160 mg/day), both drugs improved tremor.<sup>[95]</sup> In a double-blind crossover study, nimodipine (120 mg/day) was studied in 16 essential tremor patients.<sup>[96]</sup> Fifteen patients completed the study and of these, eight showed improvements in tremor. Headache and heartburn was reported by one patient (6.3%) who withdrew from the study. No other adverse events were reported. Due to their limited and variable effect, calcium channel antagonists are not routinely used in the treatment of essential tremor.

#### 3.4 Isoniazid

In a double-blind trial of isoniazid in 11 essential tremor patients only two patients with essential tremor appeared to experiences short-term improvements, while only one patient experienced sustained benefits.<sup>[97]</sup> The use of isoniazid is not recommended in essential tremor due to potential toxicity. Four patients withdrew from the study due to adverse events which included increased liver enzymes in two patients (18.2%), dizziness in one patient (9.1%) and hepatotoxicity in one patient (9.1%). No other adverse events were reported.

In general, the most common adverse effects of isoniazid affect the liver and the nervous system.<sup>[20]</sup> Severe and potentially fatal hepatitis may develop with isoniazid therapy. This is an age-related effect and can affect 8/1000 persons over the age of 65 years. Mild and transient elevations in serum trans-

aminases occur in 10–20% of patients. The most common adverse effect is peripheral neuropathy, which is typically preceded by paraesthesias of the hands and feet. Other common adverse effects are nausea, vomiting, fatigue, weakness, fever, rash and pyridoxine deficiency. Less common adverse effects include convulsions, toxic encephalopathy, optic neuritis and atrophy, memory impairment and psychosis.<sup>[20]</sup>

#### 3.5 Clonidine

Clonidine, an imidazole derivative, is mainly an α2-adrenoceptor agonist but also acts as an agonist at imidazole receptors in the rostroventrolateral medulla. The α2-adrenoceptor agonist mechanism of action was reported to be beneficial in the treatment of essential tremor.<sup>[98]</sup> In an open-label trial in ten essential tremor patients, a good response to a single dose of clonidine was demonstrated.[98] In contrast, however, clonidine did not result in significant improvements in tremor control, according to the results from both a placebo-controlled, double-blind trial in ten essential tremor patients using an oral dose of 0.4 mg/day<sup>[99]</sup> and a double-blind, crossover trial in 25 essential tremor patients using intravenous clonidine.[100] Clonidine is not recommended for use in essential tremor.

#### 3.6 Clozapine

Clozapine has been reported to be effective in the treatment of essential tremor. In an open-label trial, 12 essential tremor patients and 13 patients with other types of tremor were treated with clozapine (18–75 mg/day). Nine essential tremor patients reported reduction in their tremor. Sedation was the only adverse event reported, which occurred in 21 of the 25 patients. However, in the majority of these patients, sedation decreased or resolved within 1–2 weeks of treatment. [101]

In a randomised, double-blind, crossover study, 13 out of 15 medication-resistant essential tremor

patients, experienced a significant reduction in tremor with clozapine. Sedation was reported by all patients and was markedly decreased after 6–7 weeks in all but one patient who withdrew from the study due to severe intolerable sedation.

The potentially life-threatening risk of agranulocytosis is reported to occur in 1.3% of patients taking clozapine. Due to this potential risk, patients on clozapine must have white blood cell counts prior to drug initiation, at regular intervals throughout treatment and 4 weeks after discontinuation. Other adverse effects associated with clozapine use include drowsiness/sedation (39%), salivation (31%), tachycardia (25%), dizziness/vertigo (19%), constipation (14%), hypotension (9%), headache (7%), sweating (6%), dry mouth (6%), syncope (6%), nausea (5%), fever (5%), visual disturbances (5%), weight gain (4%), hypertension (4%), and seizures (3%). Rarely (<0.01%), clozapine is associated with fatal myocarditis.[20] Clozapine may be effective in the treatment of essential tremor, however, the risk agranulocytosis and myocarditis limit the use of this drug.

#### 3.7 Mirtazapine

Mirtazapine is a novel antidepressant that acts centrally as a presynaptic  $\alpha_2$ -adrenoceptor antagonist. Pact and Giduz<sup>[103]</sup> reported a series of five patients with tremor (three had parkinsonian tremor and two had action tremor) who were treated with mirtazapine. Mirtazapine 30 mg/day significantly reduced tremor in all five patients. Ertan et al.<sup>[104]</sup> also reported that essential tremor was controlled with mirtazapine. In 20 patients with essential tremor, 18 (90%) showed a decrease in their total tremor rating scale score and eight (40%) showed a substantial reduction. Adverse events were reported by nine (50%) patients and included sedation, headache and weight gain.

In a double-blind, placebo-controlled study in 17 essential tremor patients, Lyons and Pahwa<sup>[105]</sup> re-

ported significant improvements with mirtazapine (45 mg/day) or placebo compared with baseline, as measured by the Tremor Rating Scale. Adverse events were more common in the mirtazapine group and included drowsiness (23.1%), confusion (7.7%), dry mouth (7.7%), weight gain (15.4%) and polyuria (15.4%), whereas in the placebo group the only adverse effects were dry mouth (7.7%) and drowsiness (7.7%). Three patients discontinued the study due to adverse effects; one patient had balance and gait difficulty, nausea and polyuria, one had excessive drowsiness and blurred vision and one patient had drowsiness, dry mouth and a bad taste in their mouth. Due to its lack of efficacy and significant adverse effects, mirtazapine is not recommended for the routine treatment for essential tremor.

#### 4. Surgical Treatment

#### 4.1 Thalamotomy

There are multiple reports regarding the efficacy of thalamotomy for essential tremor. [106-114] These reports have consistently shown that over 90% of patients have experienced improvements in tremor contralateral to the side of the thalamotomy. Long-term follow-up studies have indicated that the benefits of thalamotomy can continue for up to 20 years.

Mohadjer et al.<sup>[112]</sup> reported that, at a mean follow-up of 8.6 years after thalamotomy, 80% of the 65 patients with essential tremor showed an improvement in tremor. That is, 69% of patients experienced complete or substantial reductions in tremor, while 11% experienced moderate improvement. Temporary adverse effects were reported in 33% of patients and included bradykinesia, hypotonia, gait disturbances and facial weakness. Twenty-five percent of the patients reported minor speech difficulties and 17% reported fine movement disturbances, dysdiadochokinesia and disequilibrium. At the follow-up evaluations, only 5% reported

continued hypotonia and gait disturbances, 1% reported continued speech difficulties and 3% reported continuation of dysdiadochokinesia and disequilibrium.

Tasker reported a lifetime mortality experience with thalamotomy of <0.5%. [115] Variations in morbidity and mortality rates can be related to different techniques of the procedure (e.g. radio-frequency lesioning is less hazardous than leukotomy or chemothalamotomy), different diagnoses (essential tremor, Parkinson's disease or other tremor), the presence of associated medical conditions and the number of lesions. Bilateral thalamotomies are not recommended due to increased morbidity and mortality. One of the main concerns is the risk of speech difficulty associated with bilateral thalamotomy.

#### 4.2 Deep Brain Stimulation of the Thalamus

Due to morbidity rates associated with ablative surgery, especially bilateral lesions, deep brain stimulation of the ventral intermediate nucleus of the thalamus is increasingly used for the surgical treatment of tremor. The Activa Tremor Control Therapy®1 system consists of a deep brain stimulation electrode and an extension wire that connects the electrode to an implantable pulse generator (the power source for the system). The intracranial end of the deep brain stimulation electrode has four platinum-iridium contacts. The implantable pulse generator is implanted subcutaneously in the infraclavicular area of the chest. Any one of the stimulating contacts can be used for monopolar stimulation or any two or more can be used in combination for bipolar stimulation.<sup>[116]</sup> The implantable pulse generator is adjusted using an external programming device. The patient can turn the stimulator on or off with a hand held magnet or an Access Review® device that also allows the patient to determine if the system is on or off and monitor battery usage. Adjustable stimulation parameters include pulse width, amplitude, frequency and the choice of active contacts. The typical stimulation parameters are: a frequency of 135–185 Hz; a pulse width of 60–120 microseconds; and an amplitude of 1–3V.

There have been a number of studies that have reported the safety and efficacy of chronic thalamic stimulation in essential tremor. [116-124] Benabid and colleagues [121] were among the first to report the efficacy of thalamic stimulation. In 1993, they observed significant tremor reduction in 68% of 13 patients with essential tremor who underwent thalamic deep brain stimulation.

In a multicentre study of 29 patients with essential tremor and 24 patients with parkinsonian tremor, Koller et al.[123] showed that 3 months after unilateral thalamic stimulation, 23 essential tremor patients reported marked improvements in tremor, three patients reported moderate improvements, one reported mild improvements and two patients were unchanged. There were also significant improvements in activities of daily living and objective tremor rating scores. Surgical complications for the total cohort (n = 53) included lead dislodgement during surgery in one patient (requiring reimplantation the next day), ischaemic changes on ECG in one patient and generalised seizures (not requiring longterm therapy) in another patient. Adverse events for the total cohort that were related to stimulation at 3 months post-surgery were mild and could be reduced by adjusting stimulation parameter settings. These events included paraesthesia (79.2%), headache (11.3%), disequilibrium (9.4%), paresis (7.6%), gait disorder (5.7%), dystonia (5.7%), dysarthria (3.8%), and localised pain (2.9%). The events that persisted at 12 months post-surgery included paraesthesia (20.8%), headache (3.8%), disequilibrium (3.8%), paresis (3.8%), dystonia (3.8%), dysarthria (3.8%) and localised pain (1.9%). Adverse events for the total cohort that were associated

<sup>1</sup> Use of tradenames is for product identification only and does not imply endorsement.

with the deep brain stimulation device during the first year post-surgery, included skin infections in two patients (both of whom were treated with antibiotics), and skin erosion in one patient (requiring replacement of the extension wire). Implantable pulse generator malfunction occurred in one patient that required replacement of the implantable pulse generator. Ondo et al.<sup>[124]</sup> demonstrated an 83% reduction in contralateral arm tremor in 14 essential tremor patients, 3 months after unilateral thalamic stimulation.

There are very few data regarding the long-term efficacy of thalamic stimulation. In one study in 25 essential tremor patients with an average follow-up of 40 months, a mean improvement in tremor of >50% compared with baseline was reported with unilateral thalamic stimulation.[125] One patient experienced self-limiting seizures postoperatively. Stimulation-related complications were mild and resolved when stimulation parameters were adjusted. These stimulation-related events included paraesthesia (84%), headache (60%), paresis (24%), dysarthria (16%), nausea (16%), disequilibrium (12%), facial weakness (12%), gait disorder (8%), dystonia (8%), mild cognitive deficit (8%), dizziness (8%), hypophonia (4%), anxiety (4%), depression (4%), syncope (4%), drooling (4%) and vomiting during programming (4%). Device-related problems were common and led to additional surgery in 18 patients, including lead replacements due to loss of effect or fracture, lead reposition due to migration, and implantable pulse generator replacement due to malfunction and battery depletion.

Pahwa et al.<sup>[126]</sup> reported significant improvements in tremor in nine essential tremor patients undergoing staged bilateral deep brain stimulation of the thalamus. After the first surgery, there was a 35% improvement in tremor ratings, including objective measures of tremor, activities of daily living and functional ability, compared with baseline. There was an additional 34% improvement 1 year

after the second surgery. When upper limb tremor was evaluated there was a 68% improvement after the first surgery and a 75% improvement after the second surgery. Surgical complications were noted patients: asymptomatic intracranial haematoma (n = 1), postoperative seizures (1), haematoma over the implantable pulse generator (1), lead repositioning (1), and implantable pulse generator malfunction (1). Adverse events related to stimulation were mild and resolved with adjustment of the stimulation parameters. The events included paraesthesia (100%), dysarthria (44%), disequilibrium (33%), headache (22%), dyspraxia (22%), choking (11%) and word-finding difficulty (11%). Three of the six patients with dysarthria demonstrated worsening of dysarthria when both stimulators were on.

Voice tremor has also been reported to improve in patients who have undergone deep brain stimulation for hand tremor.[127] This improvement was shown to be most pronounced in patients with severe voice tremor. Similarly, head tremor has been shown to improve in patients undergoing unilateral deep brain stimulation of the thalamus. A 50% improvement in head tremor was observed 12 months after unilateral deep brain stimulation of the thalamus for hand tremor.[128] Obwegeser and colleagues<sup>[129]</sup> also reported significant improvements in head, voice, tongue and face tremor in 27 patients who underwent thalamic stimulation for essential tremor. The adverse events included dysarthria (15%), disequilibrium (12%), and paraesthesias (10%). After bilateral surgery (n = 13) the percentage of required stimulation adjustments due to dysarthria (29%) was significantly increased compared with unilateral surgery (9%).

4.3 Thalamotomy versus Thalamic Stimulation

The clinician must determine whether to recommend thalamotomy or thalamic stimulation for

patients with disabling tremor who are not responding to pharmacological intervention. The advantages of deep brain stimulation include the absence of a destructive lesion in the brain, the ability to change stimulation settings to improve symptoms or reduce the occurrence or severity of adverse events and the option to have bilateral surgery with a reduced risk of speech disturbance and other persistent adverse events. The disadvantages of deep brain stimulation are the increased risk of infection or inflammatory reaction from the implantation of the device, the time and effort necessary to program the device to continually control tremor, additional surgery for the replacement of batteries and the potential for additional surgery due to device failures or malfunction.

Tasker, [130] Schuurman and coworkers [131] and Pahwa and colleagues<sup>[132]</sup> have compared essential tremor patients who had undergone thalamic stimulation to those who underwent thalamotomy. Each study reported similar efficacy for the procedures, however, those undergoing thalamotomy had a higher risk of complications. Adverse events reported by Tasker<sup>[130]</sup> for deep brain stimulation of the thalamus (n = 19) and thalamotomy (n = 26), respectively, were intracerebral haematoma (0%, 4%), emotional lability and confusion (5%, 4%), permanent dysarthria (5%, 4%), transient dysarthria (5% resolved with stimulation adjustments, 8%), ataxia (0%, 15%), gait disturbance (5%, 12%), permanent paraesthesias (0%, 19%), transient paraesthesias (47% resolved with stimulation adjustments, 4%), nausea and faintness (5%, 0%), and pain/swelling at stimulator site (16%, 0%).

According to Schuurman et al., [131] the adverse effects with deep brain stimulation of the thalamus resolved when the stimulators were adjusted or turned off. One patient in the stimulation group had a haematoma near the pulse generator and another patient had an infection at the pulse generator site which led to removal and replacement after antibio-

tics. Three patients in the thalamotomy group had cognitive dysfunction. Similarly, adverse effects reported by Pahwa et al. [132] for deep brain stimulation of the thalamus (n = 17) and thalamotomy (n = 17), respectively, included intracerebral haemorrhage (0%, 6%), cognitive changes (0%, 29%), hemiparesis (0%, 12%), paraesthesia (59%, 6%), headache (53%, 41%), seizures (6%, 6%), dizziness (12%, 0%), disequilibrium (6%, 0%) and dysarthria (6%, 0%).

# 4.4 Gamma Knife Radiosurgical Thalamotomy

In some high-risk surgery patients who may not be candidates for thalamotomy or deep brain stimulation of the thalamus, gamma knife radiosurgical thalamotomy may be considered. Young et al.<sup>[133]</sup> reported that 92% out of 52 essential tremor patients experienced significant improvement in tremor with gamma knife radiosurgery. Furthermore, significant improvements were maintained in the 17 patients who were followed for at least four years.

Niranjan et al.<sup>[134]</sup> reported nearly complete resolution of tremor in six out of eight essential tremor patients who underwent gamma knife radiosurgical thalamotomy. No immediate complications were seen after surgery; however, after approximately 8 months, one patient developed arm and leg weakness as well as dysarthria. No other complications were reported.

In a case report, Siderowf and colleagues<sup>[135]</sup> reported an essential tremor patient who developed a complex movement disorder following gamma knife radiosurgical thalamotomy. Three months post-surgery the patient developed dizziness and at 4 months peri-oral and right arm numbness and mild dysarthria developed. The patient's symptoms had progressed and at 7 months resting and action tremor, right arm and leg dystonia and right arm choreoathetosis developed. These symptoms progressed for another 4–5 months at which time

they stabilised. In order to fully evaluate the safety of gamma knife radiosurgical thalamotomy, further studies of long-term complications need to be done.

# 5. Non-Pharmacological and Non-Surgical Treatments

It is well known that adding weights to a limb with tremor can reduce the amplitude of the tremor but does not eliminate the tremor. [136] The use of weights may be helpful for patients who have failed to respond to pharmacological or surgical therapies. Weights may be particularly helpful while performing directed tasks such as eating or drinking. This technique can be helpful in identifying psychogenic tremor, as weights tend to decrease organic tremor but increase psychogenic tremor. [136] The use of relaxation techniques such as meditation, yoga, hypnosis and biofeedback approaches can transiently reduce tremor in some patients. [137-140] These techniques are particularly useful during times of increased stress.

#### 6. Conclusions

Pharmacological treatment for essential tremor is effective in approximately 50% of patients. Treatment for essential tremor is recommended if the tremor causes functional disability. If the tremor is disabling only during periods of stress and anxiety, propranolol and benzodiazepines can be used during those periods when the tremor causes functional disability. There are few risks with the occasional use of these medications in low doses. Patients who have functional disabilities that interfere with daily activities may require medications on a daily basis.

The use of propranolol or primidone is recommended as initial therapy. If these drugs alone do not provide adequate tremor control, a combination of propranolol and primidone can be tried. Propranolol is usually well tolerated and provides some tremor control in the majority of patients. The primary adverse events associated with propranolol include

bradycardia, hypotension, nausea, vomiting, paraesthesias, weakness and fatigue. Similarly, primidone typically provides some tremor relief with the most common adverse events being dizziness, nausea, drowsiness and fatigue. The combination of propranolol and primidone may provide greater control in tremor without a concomitant increase in adverse events. Patients who do not have adequate tremor control with these medications may find some benefit from the use of benzodiazepines, gabapentin or topiramate. Although these medications tend to be well tolerated, their efficacy has not been undisputedly documented in controlled clinical trials.

If the patient still has disabling tremor after medication trials, surgical options are usually considered. Surgical options include thalamotomy and deep brain stimulation of the thalamus. These surgical options provide adequate tremor control in approximately 90% of the patients. Surgical morbidity and mortality for these procedures is low. Deep brain stimulation and thalamotomy have been shown to have comparable efficacy but fewer complications have been reported with deep brain stimulation. In patients undergoing bilateral procedures deep brain stimulation of the thalamus is the procedure of choice to avoid adverse effects seen with bilateral ablative procedures. The use of medication and/or surgery can provide adequate tremor control in the majority of the patients.

## **Acknowledgements**

No sources of funding were used to assist in the preparation of this manuscript. The authors have reported the following conflicts of interest: Kelly Lyons – consultant Medtronic; Rajesh Pahwa – consultant Medtronic, speaker Medtronic, Novartis, investigator Ortho McNeil; Cynthia Comella – consultant Elan, Allergan, speaker Elan, Allergan, research grants Elan, Allergan; Joseph Jankovic – research grants Medtronic, Allergan; William Koller – consultant Medtronic, Elan, Novartis, speaker Novartis; William Ondo – speaker Allergan; investigator Ortho McNeil; Kapil Sethi – consultant Elan, Novartis, research grants Novartis, Elan, speaker Elan; Ray Watts – consultant and speaker Novartis.

#### References

- Lou JS, Jankovic J. Essential tremor: clinical correlates in 350 patients. Neurology 1991; 41: 234-8
- Louis ED, Ottman R, Hauser WA. How common is the most common adult movement disorder? estimates of the prevalence of essential tremor throughout the world. Mov Disord 1998; 13: 5-10
- Elble RJ. Diagnostic criteria for essential tremor and differential diagnosis. Neurology 2000; 54: S2-6
- Deuschl G, Bain P, Brin M. Consensus statement of the Movement Disorder Society on Tremor. Ad Hoc Scientific Committee. Mov Disord 1998; 13: 2-23
- Findley LJ. Classification of tremors. J Clin Neurophysiol 1996;
  13: 122-32
- Marshall J. Tremor. In: Vinken PJ, Bruyn GW, editors. Handbook of clinical neurology. Vol 6. Amsterdam: North-Holland Publishing Co, 1968: 809-25
- Winkler GF, Young RR. Efficacy of chronic propranolol therapy in action tremors of the familial, senile or essential varieties. N Engl J Med 1974; 290: 984-8
- Sevitt I. The effect of adrenergic beta-receptor blocking drugs on tremor. Practitioner 1971; 207: 677-8
- 9. Winkler GF, Young RR. The control of essential tremor by propranolol. Trans Am Neurol Assoc 1971; 96: 66-8
- Tolosa ES, Loewenson RB. Essential tremor: treatment with propranolol. Neurology 1975; 25: 1041-4
- Murray TJ. Long-term therapy of essential tremor with propranol. Can Med Assoc J 1976; 115: 892-4
- Dupont E, Hansen HJ, Dalby MA. Treatment of benign essential tremor with propranolol: a controlled clinical trial. Acta Neurol Scand 1973; 69: 75-84
- 13. Teräväinen H, Fogelholm R, Larsen A. Effect of propranolol on essential tremor. Neurology 1976; 26: 27-30
- Sweet RD, Blumberg J, Lee JE, et al. Propranolol treatment of essential tremor. Neurology 1974; 24: 64-7
- Calzetti S, Findley LJ, Gresty MA, et al. Effect of a single dose of propranolol on essential tremor: a double-blind controlled study. Ann Neurol 1983; 13: 165-71
- Calzetti S, Findley LJ, Perucca E, et al. The response of essential tremor to propranolol: evaluation of clinical variables governing the efficacy of prolonged administration. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1983; 46: 393-8
- Koller WC. Dose-response relationship of propranolol in essential tremor. Arch Neurol 1986; 35: 42-3
- Koller WC. Long-acting propranolol in essential tremor. Neurology 1985; 36: 108-10
- Cleeves L, Findley L. Propranolol and propranolol-LA in essential tremor: a double-blind comparative study. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1988; 51: 379-81
- Physician's Desk Reference. 57th Edition. Thompson PDR; Montvale (NJ), 2003
- Young RR. Essential-familial tremor and other action tremors. Semin Neurol 1982; 2: 386-91
- Koller WC, Royse V. Time course of a single oral dose of propranolol in essential tremor. Neurology 1985; 35: 1494-9

- Jefferson D, Jenner P, Marsden CD. Beta-adrenoreceptor antagonists in essential tremor. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1979; 42: 904-9
- Huttunen J, Teräväinen H, Larsen A. Beta-adrenoreceptor antagonist in essential tremor [brief report]. Lancet 1984; II: 857
- Britt CR, Peters BH. Metoprolol for essential tremor [brief report]. N Engl J Med 1979; 301: 331
- Ljung O. Treatment of essential tremor with metoprolol [brief report]. N Engl J Med 1979; 301: 1005
- Newman RP, Jacobs L. Metoprolol in essential tremor. Arch Neurol 1980; 37: 596-7
- Riley T, Pleet AB. Metoprolol tartrate for essential tremor [brief report]. N Engl J Med 1979; 301: 663
- Turnbull DM, Shaw DA. Metoprolol in essential tremor. Lancet 1980; I: 95
- Calzetti S, Findley LJ, Gresty MA, et al. Metoprolol and propranolol in essential tremor: a double-blind controlled study. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1981; 44: 814-9
- Koller WC, Biary N. Metoprolol compared to propranolol in the treatment of essential tremor. Arch Neurol 1984; 41: 171-2
- 32. Koller WC. Nadolol in the treatment of essential tremor. Neurology 1983; 33: 1074-5
- Dietrichson P, Espen E. Effects of timolol and atenolol on benign essential tremor: placebo-controlled studies based on quantitative tremor recordings. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1981; 44: 677-83
- Teräväinen H, Larsen A, Fogelheim R. Comparison between the effects of pindolol and propranolol on essential tremor. Neurology 1977; 27: 439-43
- Koller WC, Larsen L, Potempa K. Pindolol-induced tremor. Clin Neuropharmacol 1987; 10: 449-60
- Kuroda Y, Kakigi R, Shilasaki H. Treatment of essential tremor with arotinolol. Neurology 1988; 38: 650-1
- O'Brien MD, Upton AR, Toseland PA. Benign familial tremor treated with primidone. BMJ 1981; 282: 178-80
- Chakrabarti A, Pearce JMS: Essential tremor: response to primidone [brief report]. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1981; 44: 650
- Findley LJ, Cleeves L, Calzetti S. Primidone in essential tremor of the hands and head: a double-blind controlled clinical study. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1985; 481: 911-5
- Koller WC, Royse V. Efficacy of primidone in essential tremor. Neurology 1986; 36: 121-4
- Calzetti S, Findley L, Risani F, et al. Phenyethylmalonamide in essential tremor. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1981; 44: 932-4
- Findley LJ, Calzetti S. Double-blind controlled study of primidone in essential tremor: preliminary results. BMJ 1982; 285: 608
- Gorman WP, Cooper R, Pocock P, et al. A comparison of primidone, propranolol, and placebo in essential tremor using quantitative analysis. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1986; 491: 64-8
- Crystal HA. Duration of effectiveness of primidone in essential tremor. Neurology 1986; 36: 1543
- Shale H, Fahn S. Response to essential tremor to treatment with primidone [abstract]. Neurology 1987; 37: 123

- Sasso E, Perucca E, Fava N, et al. Primidone in the long-term treatment of essential tremor: a prospective study with computerized quantitative analysis. Clin Neuropharmacol 1990; 13: 67-76
- 47. Huber SJ, Paulson GW. Efficacy of alprazolam for essential tremor. Neurology 1988; 38 (2): 241-3
- Gunal DI, Afsar N, Bekiroglu N, et al. New alternative agents in essential tremor therapy; double-blind placebo-controlled study of alprazolam and acetazolamide. Neurol Sci 2000; 21: 315-7
- Thompson C, Lang A, Parkes JD, et al. A double-blind trial of clonazepam in benign essential tremor. Clin Neuropharmacol 1984; 7: 83-8
- Biary N, Koller W. Kinetic predominant essential tremor: successful treatment with clonazepam. Neurology 1987; 37: 471-4
- 51. Heilman KM. Orthostatic tremor. Arch Neurol 1984; 41: 880-1
- McManis PG, Sharbrough FW. Orthostatic tremor: clinical and electrophysiologic characteristics. Muscle Nerve 1993; 16: 1254-60
- Burrows GT, King RB. Gabapentin in essential tremor [abstract]. Neurology 1995; 45 Suppl. 4: A187-I88
- Adler CH. Effectiveness of gabapentin in various movement disorders [abstract]. Mov Disord 1996; 11 Suppl. 1: 251
- Merren MD. Gabapentin for treatment of pain and tremor: a large case series. South Med J 1998; 91: 739-44
- Gironell A, Barbanoj M, Kulisevsky, J, et al. A randomized placebo controlled comparative trial of gabapentin and propranolol in essential tremor. Arch Neurol 1999; 56 (4): 475-80
- Ondo WG, Hunter C, Schwartz K, et al. High dose gabapentin for essential tremor: a double-blind, placebo-controlled, crossover trial. Mov Disord 2000; 15: 678-82
- Pahwa R, Lyons K, Hubble J, et al. Double-blind controlled trial of gabapentin in essential tremor. Mov Disord 1998; 13: 465-7
- Gee NS, Brown JP, Dissanayake VUK, et al. The novel anticonvulsant drug, gabapentin (Neurontin), binds to the a2δ subunit of a calcium channel. J Biol Chem 1996; 271: 5768-76
- Schumacher TB, Beck H, Steinhauser C, et al. Effects of phenytoin, carbamazepine, and gabapentin on calcium channels in hippocampal granule cells from patients with temporal lobe epilepsy. Epilepsia 1998; 39: 355-63
- 61. Kelly KM. Gabapentin. Neuropsychobiology 1998; 38: 139-44
- Taylor CP, Gee NS, Su TZ, et al. A summary of mechanistic hypotheses of gabapentin pharmacology. Epilepsy Res 1998; 29: 233-49
- 63. Goa KL, Sorkin EM. Gabapentin. Drugs 1993; 46: 409-27
- Connor GS. Topiramate as a novel treatment for essential tremor [abstract]. Mov Disord 1999; 14: 908
- Connor GS. A randomized double-blind placebo controlled trial of topiramate treatment for essential tremor. Neurology 2002; 59: 132-4
- 66. Glauser TA. Topiramate. Epilepsia 1999; 40 Suppl. 5: S71-80
- Kawasaki H, Tancredi V, D'Arcangelo G, et al. Multiple actions of the novel anticonvulsant drug topiramate in the rat subiculum in vitro. Brain Res 1998; 807: 125-34
- Petroff OA, Hyder F, Mattson RH, et al. Topiramate increases brain GABA, homocarnosine, and pyrrolidinone in patients with epilepsy. Neurology 1999; 52: 473-8

- Montecucco C, Shiavo G, Rossetto O. The mechanism of action of tetanus and botulinum neurotoxins. Arch Toxicol Suppl 1996; 18: 342-54
- Catsicas S, Grenningloh G, Pcij EM. Nerve-terminal proteins: to fuse to learn. Trends Neurosci 1994; 17: 368-73
- Jost WH, Kohl A. Botulinum toxin: evidence-based medicine criteria in rare conditions. J Neurol 2000; 248 Suppl. 1: I39-44
- Jankovic J, Schwartz K. Botulinum toxin treatment of tremors. Neurology 1991; 41: 1185-8
- Jankovic J, Schwartz K, Clemence W, et al. A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study to evaluate botulinum toxin type A in essential hand tremor. Mov Disord 1996; 11: 250-6
- Brin MF, Lyons KE, Doucette J, et al. A randomized, double masked, controlled trial of botulinum toxin type A in essential hand tremor. Neurology 2001; 56: 1523-8
- Pacchetti C, Mancini F, Bulgheroni M, et al. Botulinum toxin treatment for functional disability induced by essential tremor. Neurol Sci 2000; 21: 349-53
- Trosch RM, Pullman SL. Botulinum toxin A injections for the treatment of hand tremors. Movement Dis 1994; 9: 601-9
- 77. Henderson JM, Ghika JA, Van Melle G, et al. Botulinum toxin A in non-dystonic tremors. Eur Neurol 1996; 36: 29-35
- Wissel J, Masuhr F, Schelosky L, et al. Quantitative assessment of botulinum toxin treatment in 43 patients with head tremor. Mov Disord 1997; 12: 722-6
- Pahwa R, Busenbark K, Swanson-Hyland EF, et al. Botulinum toxin treatment of essential head tremor. Neurology 1995; 45: 822-4
- Blitzer A, Brin MF, Stewart C, et al. Abductor laryngeal dystonia: a series treated with botulinum toxin. Laryngoscope 1992; 102: 163-7
- Hertegard S, Granqvist S, Lindestad PA. Botulinum toxin injections for essential voice tremor. Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol 2000; 109: 204-9
- Warrick P. The treatment of essential voice tremor with botulinum toxin A: a longitudinal case report. J Voice 2000; 14: 410-21
- Warrick P. Botulinum toxin for essential tremor of the voice with multiple anatomical sites of tremor: a crossover design study of unilateral versus unilateral injection. Laryngoscope 2000; 110: 1266-374
- Cho JW, Chu K, Jeon BS. Case of essential palatal tremor: atypical features and remarkable benefit from botulinum toxin injection. Mov Disord 2001; 16: 779-82
- 85. Bakar M, Zarifoglu M, Bora I, et al. Treatment of trembling chin with botulinum toxin. Mov Disord 1998; 13: 845-6
- Koller WC, Hristova A, Brin M. Pharmacologic treatment of essential tremor. Neurology 2000; 54 Suppl. 4: S30-8
- Muenter MD, Daube JR, Caviness JN, et al. Treatment of essential tremor with methazolamide. Mayo Clinic Proc 1991; 66: 991-7
- Busenbark K, Pahwa R, Hubble J, et al. The effect of acetazolamide on essential tremor: an open-label trial. Neurology 1992; 42: 1394-13495

- Busenbark K, Pahwa R, Hubble J, et al. Double-blind controlled study of methazolamide in the treatment of essential tremor. Neurology 1993; 43: 104-1047
- Baruzzi A, Procaceranti G, Martinelle P. Phenobarbital and propranolol in essential tremor: a double-blind controlled clinical trial. Neurology 1983; 33: 296-300
- Findley LJ, Cleeves L. Phenobarbital in essential tremor. Neurology 1985; 35: 1784-7
- Sasso E, Perucca E, Calzetti S. Double-blind comparison of primidone and phenobarbital in essential tremor. Neurology 1988; 38: 808-10
- Topaktas S, Onur R, Dalkara T. Calcium channel blockers and essential tremor. Eur Neurol 1987; 27: 114-9
- Garcia-Ruiz PJ, Garcia de Yenebes Prous J, Jimenez-Jimenez J. Effect of nicardipine on essential tremor: brief report. Clin Neuropharmacol 1993; 16: 456-9
- Jimenez-Jimenez FJ, Garcia-Ruiz PJ, Cabrera-Valdivia F. Nicardipine versus propranolol in essential tremor. Acta Neurol (Napoli) 1994; 16 (4): 184-8
- Biary N, Bahou Y, Sofi MA, et al. The effect of nimodipine on essential tremor. Neurology 1995; 45: 1523-5
- Hallett M, Ravits J, Dubinsky RM, et al. A double-blind trial of isoniazid for essential tremor and other action tremors. Mov Disord 1991; 6 (3): 253-6
- Caccia MR, Mangoni A. Clonidine in essential tremor: preliminary observations from an open trial. J Neurol 1985; 232: 55-7
- Koller WC, Herbster G, Cone S. Clonidine in the treatment of essential tremor. Mov Disord 1986; 1: 235-7
- Caccia MR, Osio M, Galimberti V, et al. Propranolol, clonidine, urapidil and trazodone infusion in essential tremor: a double-blind crossover trial. Acta Neurol Scand 1989; 79 (5): 379-83
- Pakkenberg H, Pakkenberg B. Clozapine in the treatment of tremor. Acta Neurol Scand 1986; 73: 295-7
- Ceravolo R, Salvetti S, Piccini P, et al. Acute and chronic effects of clozapine in essential tremor. Mov Disord 1999; 14 (3): 468-72
- Pact V, Giduz T. Mirtazapine treats resting tremor, essential tremor, and levodopa induced dyskinesias [clinical/scientific note]. Neurology 1999; 53: 1154
- 104. Ertan S, Koksal A, Ozekmekci S. Clinical efficacy of mirtazapine in essential tremor [abstract P557]. Mov Disord 2000; 15 (S3): 102
- Lyons KE, Pahwa R. A double-blind, placebo-controlled, pilot study of mirtazapine in essential tremor [abstract]. Neurology 2002; 58 Suppl. 3: A254
- Laitinen L. Stereotaxic treatment of hereditary tremor. Acta Neurol Scand 1965; 41: 74-9
- Blacker HM, Bertrand C, Martinez N, et al. Hypotonia accompanying the neurosurgical relief of essential tremor. J Nerv Ment Dis 1968; 147: 49-55
- Bertrand C, Hardy J, Molina-Negro P, et al. Tremor of attitude. Confin Neurol 1969; 31: 37-41
- van Manen J. Stereotaxic operations in cases of hereditary and intention tremor. Acta Neurochir (Wien) 1974; Suppl. 21: 49-55

- Ohye C, Hirai T, Miyazaki M, et al. Vim thalamotomy for the treatment of various kinds of tremor. Appl Neurophysiol 1982; 45: 275-80
- Nagaseki Y, Shibazaki T, Hirai T, et al. Long-term follow-up results of selective VIM-thalamotomy. J Neurosurg 1986; 65: 296-302
- Mohadjer M, Goerke H, Milios E, et al. Long-term results of stereotaxy in the treatment of essential tremor. Stereotact Funct Neurosurg 1990; 55: 125-9
- Goldman MS, Kelly PJ. Symptomatic and functional outcome of stereotactic ventralis lateralis thalamotomy for intention tremor. J Neurosurg 1992; 77: 223-9
- Jankovic J, Cardoso F, Grossman RG, et al. Outcome after stereotactic thalamotomy for parkinsonian, essential, and other types of tremor. Neurosurgery 1995; 37: 680-6
- Tasker RR. Movement disorders. In: Apuzzo MLJ, editor. Brain surgery complication avoidance and management. New York: Churchill Livingstone, 1993: 1509
- Activa tremor control therapy reference guide. Minneapolis: Medtronics. 1997
- Benabid AL, Pollak P, Gervason C, et al. Long-term suppression of tremor by chronic stimulation of the ventral intermediate thalamic nucleus. Lancet 1991; 337: 403-6
- 118. Blond S, Caparros-Lefebvre D, Parker F, et al. Control of tremor and involuntary movement disorders by chronic stereotactic stimulation of the ventral intermediate thalamic nucleus. J Neurosurg 1992; 77: 62-8
- 119. Benabid AL, Pollak P, Seigneuret E, et al. Chronic VIM thalamic stimulation in Parkinson's disease, essential tremor and extra-pyramidal dyskinesias. Acta Neurochir Suppl (Wien) 1993; 58: 39-44
- 120. Alesch F, Pinter MM, Helscher RJ, et al. Stimulation of the ventral intermediate thalamic nucleus in tremor dominated Parkinson's disease and essential tremor. Acta Neurochir (Wien) 1995; 136: 75-81
- 121. Benabid AL, Pollak P, Gao D, et al. Chronic electrical stimulation of the ventralis intermedius nucleus of the thalamus as a treatment of movement disorders. J Neurosurg 1996; 84: 203-14
- 122. Hubble JP, Busenbark KL, Wilkinson S, et al. Deep brain stimulation for essential tremor. Neurology 1996; 46: 1150-3
- 123. Koller W, Pahwa R, Busenbark K, et al. High-frequency unilateral thalamic stimulation in the treatment of essential and parkinsonian tremor. Ann Neurol 1997; 42: 292-9
- 124. Ondo W, Jankovic J, Schwartz K, et al. Unilateral thalamic deep brain stimulation for refractory essential tremor and Parkinson's disease tremor. Neurology 1998; 51: 1063-9
- Koller WC, Lyons KE, Wilkinson SB, et al. Long-term safety and efficacy of unilateral deep brain stimulation of the thalamus in essential tremor. Mov Disord 2001; 16: 464-8
- Pahwa R, Lyons KE, Wilkinson SB, et al. Bilateral thalamic stimulation for essential tremor. Neurology 1998; 50 Suppl. 4:
- Carpenter MA, Pahwa R, Miyawaki KL, et al. Reduction in voice tremor under thalamic stimulation. Neurology 1998; 50: 796-8
- 128. Koller WC, Lyons KE, Wilkinson SB, et al. Efficacy of unilateral deep brain stimulation of the VIM nucleus of the

- thalamus for essential head tremor. Mov Disord 1999; 14: 847-50
- Obwegeser AA, Uitti RJ, Turk MF, et al. Thalamic stimulation for the treatment of midline tremors in essential tremor patients. Neurology 2000; 54: 2342-4
- Tasker RR. Deep brain stimulation is preferable to thalamotomy for tremor suppression. Surg Neurol 1998; 49: 145-53
- Schuurman PR, Bosch DA, Bossuyt PM, et al. A comparison of continuous thalamic stimulation and thalamotomy for suppression of severe tremor. N Engl J Med 2000; 342: 461-8
- Pahwa R, Lyons KE, Wilkinson SB, et al. Comparison of thalamotomy to deep brain stimulation of the thalamus in essential tremor. Mov Disord 2001; 16: 140-3
- Young RF, Jacques S, Mark R, et al. Gamma knife thalamotomy for treatment of tremor: long-term results. J Neurosurg 2000; 93 Suppl. 3: 128-35
- Niranjan A, Kondziolka D, Baser S, et al. Functional outcomes after gamma knife thalamotomy for essential tremor and MSrelated tremor. Neurology 2000; 55: 443-6
- Siderowf A, Gollump SM, Stern MB, et al. Emergence of complex involuntary movements after gamma knife radiosurgery for essential tremor. Mov Disord 2001; 16: 965-7

- Deuschl G, Koster B, Lucking CH, et al. Diagnostic and pathophysiological aspects of psychogenic tremors. Mov Disord 1998; 13: 294-302
- Lundervold DA, Belwood MF, Craney JL, et al. Reduction of tremor severity and disability following behavioral relaxation training. J Behav Ther & Exp Psychiat 1999; 30: 119-35
- Bilodeau M, Keen DA, Sweeney PJ, et al. Strength training can improve steadiness in persons with essential tremor. Muscle Nerve 2000; 23: 771-8
- Lundervold DA, Poppen R. Biobehavioral rehabilitation for older adults with essential tremor. Gerontologist 1995; 35: 556-9
- Chung W, Poppen R, Lundervold DA. Behavioral relaxation training for tremor disorders in older adults. Biofeedback Self Regul 1995; 20: 123-35

Correspondence and offprints: Dr *Rajesh Pahwa*, Department of Neurology, University of Kansas Medical Center, 3901 Rainbow Blvd, Kansas City, KS 66160-7314, USA. E-mail: rpahwa@kumc.edu